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 v. 
 
CITY OF PORTLAND, OFC. ROGER 
WALSH, OFC. BRADLEY CLARK, 
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DEFENDANTS’ ANSWER AND 
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES TO 
PLAINTIFF’S FIRST AMENDED 
COMPLAINT 
 
 

 

For their answer to plaintiff’s First Amended Complaint, defendants Officer Roger 

Walsh, Officer Bradley Clark and City of Portland, (hereafter “defendants”) respond to 

plaintiff’s allegations in correspondingly numbered paragraphs as follows: 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Defendants admit that on February 9, 2017, Don Perkins called 911 which is 

operated by the Bureau of Emergency Communications (“BOEC”) within Portland and reported 
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that his “doctor is a piece of shit, and I am killing myself” and “I took 30 pills, and in fifteen 

minutes I will take 30 more, until she calls me.”  Defendants admit that the 911 operator told 

plaintiff, that he couldn’t help him what that, but if he would like help, that the operator would 

need to know where he was at right now – plaintiff responded, “Fuck you.”  Defendants admit 

that the 911 operator then asked “So why did you call me, what was the purpose of this phone 

call if you don’t want my assistance, was it just to yell at us?”  Plaintiff responded “No, it was to 

yell at my doctor.”  The 911operator responded that he did not know who plaintiff’s doctor was 

so he could not help with that, but if he wanted to talk to a police officer he would need to know 

what his address was.  Plaintiff responded “Well, in fifteen minutes, you won’t need my address” 

and hung up. 

Defendants admit that plaintiff then called 911 again and reported that he took 30 pills.  

The 911 operator asked what kind of pills he took and plaintiff responded that it had been 15 

minutes and that he was taking 30 more and hung up again. 

Defendants admit that officers were dispatched and responded to the 911 calls.  

Defendants admit that officers were able to find plaintiff based on his cell phone GPS 

information and eventually located his van parked on SE 22nd Avenue between SE Lafayette 

Street and SE Powell Blvd.  Defendants admit that the officers tried to speak with plaintiff in the 

van but retreated based on sounds they heard in the van and their belief that plaintiff had a 

firearm.  Defendants admit that they both drew their service pistols and retreated to a safer 

position.  Defendants admit that plaintiff threw a pill container out of his van towards the 

adjacent park and then dropped a pistol out from the van behind a tree trunk.  Defendants admit 

that plaintiff exited the van, was told to put his hands up and told not to reach for the gun on the 

ground or he would be shot.  

///// 

///// 
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Defendants admit that plaintiff ignored the officers’ orders not to reach for the gun, bent 

over toward the gun and reached for it.  Defendants admit that plaintiff’s actions created a 

substantial threat to the officers’ safety and they were forced to use deadly force in self-defense 

as further described herein.  Defendants admit that at least one officer fired at plaintiff initially 

and that the officers did not know if plaintiff had been hit but that he reacted by jumping over to 

the other side of the tree.  Defendants admit that plaintiff then again reached for the gun in a 

similar manner but from the opposite direction and both officers fired at plaintiff and struck 

plaintiff in the abdomen and right arm.   

Defendants deny any remaining allegations in paragraph 1, not specifically admitted 

above. 

2. Defendants deny the allegations in paragraph 2 of the Amended Complaint. 

3 – 4. Defendants admit that, in 2010, defendant City invited the United States 

Department of Justice (“DOJ”) to investigate its Bureau of Police and make recommendations 

for improvements in its policies and procedures.  DOJ conducted a lengthy review of police use 

of force in Portland and issued a findings letter in 2012, asserting that the Police Bureau had a 

pattern or practice of unconstitutionally using excessive force on people who either were, or 

were perceived to be, mentally ill or in mental health crisis.  Defendant City denied, and 

continues to deny, that any such pattern or practice existed or exists.  Defendant City 

nevertheless embarked on extended negotiations with DOJ to agree on improvements that the 

City could implement to improve the interactions between the police and people with mental 

illness or in mental health crisis, to enhance transparency, and further trust and legitimacy with 

the community.  The United States and defendant City reached a settlement agreement wherein 

the City agreed to make changes to its police policies, practices and training, and to enhance 

public oversight, transparency and accountability for incidents involving use of force by Portland 

Police.  The agreement also provided for enhanced data collection and reporting.  The City and 
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the United States further agreed that DOJ could file, and then conditionally dismiss, a federal 

court action to ensure that the district court would have jurisdiction to enforce the parties’ 

settlement agreement, should that prove necessary. 

Otherwise, City defendants deny any remaining allegations contained in paragraphs 3 and 4. 

II. PARTIES 

5. Defendants are without knowledge or complete information to admit or deny the 

allegation that plaintiff is a private citizen and was a resident of Portland, Oregon.  Defendants 

admit the allegations contained in paragraph 5 that the City of Portland is a municipal 

corporation organized and existing pursuant to Oregon state law, the Portland City Charter and 

the Portland City Code; and that the City of Portland maintains the Portland Police Bureau 

(“PPB”) pursuant to the provisions of Oregon state law, the Portland City Charter and Code.  

Defendants admit that PPB Officers Roger Walsh and Bradley Clark were, at all times relevant 

to this action, employed by the City of Portland as sworn peace officers with the PPB, and acted 

in that capacity and were operating under color of law as police officers at all times relevant to 

this action.  Defendants admit that PPB provides training and supervision of its officers, 

including Officers Walsh and Clark.  Defendants deny remaining allegations in paragraph 5. 

III. FACTS 

6. Defendants admit that on February 9, 2017 officers were dispatched and responded 

to the 911 calls as previously described in paragraph 1 of this Answer.  Defendants admit that 

officers were able to find plaintiff based on his cell phone GPS information and eventually 

located his van parked on SE 22nd Avenue between SE Lafayette Street and SE Powell Blvd.  

Defendants admit that the officers tried to speak with plaintiff in the van but retreated based on 

sounds they heard in the van and their belief that plaintiff had a firearm.  Defendants admit that 

they both drew their service pistols and retreated to a safer position.  Defendants admit that 

plaintiff threw a pill container out of his van towards the adjacent park and then dropped a pistol 
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out from the van behind a tree trunk.  Defendants admit that plaintiff exited the van, was told to 

put his hands up and told not to reach for the gun on the ground or he would be shot.  

Defendants admit that plaintiff ignored the officers’ orders not to reach for the gun, bent 

over toward the gun and reached for it while yelling something to the effect of “you are going to 

have to fucking kill me or fuck you, shoot me, shoot me” - thereby forcing the officers to defend 

themselves and use lethal force against plaintiff.  Defendants admit that at least one officer fired 

at plaintiff initially and that the officers did not know if plaintiff had been hit but that he reacted 

by jumping over to the other side of the tree.  Defendants admit that plaintiff then again reached 

for the gun in a similar manner but from the opposite direction and both officers fired at plaintiff 

and struck plaintiff in the abdomen and right arm.   

Defendants admit after plaintiff was shot he was able to move into the street and was then 

approached by a high-risk custody team, some of which provided lethal cover while plaintiff was 

handcuffed and assessed for injuries.  PPB officers immediately rendered medical aid, including 

the application of a tourniquet.  Medics from American Medical Response who had been 

previously requested and staged nearby based on plaintiff’s self-reported taking 30 or more pills, 

then approached the scene to continue to provide medical treatment. 

Defendants deny any remaining allegations in paragraph 6. 

7. Defendants deny that they were negligent or violated any of plaintiff’s rights as 

alleged in paragraph 7.  Defendants admit that plaintiff suffered two gunshot wounds and 

required at least one surgery.  Defendants are without knowledge or complete information to 

admit or deny the nature or extent of any other injuries as alleged in paragraph 7 and therefore, 

deny any remaining allegations in paragraph 7. 

///// 

///// 

///// 
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IV. CAUSES OF ACTION 

A. Violations of Civil Rights Under 42 USC 1983 – Fourth Amendment – 
Unlawful Seizure and Excessive Force (Against Defendants Walsh and Clark) 

8. Defendants reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-7 above. 

9. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 9. 

10. To the extent that paragraph 10 sets forth legal theories, conclusions or 

arguments, no response is required.  Defendants admit that the U.S. Constitution provides 

plaintiff to be free from unreasonable seizures and excessive force.  Defendants deny any 

remaining allegations in paragraph 10. 

11. Defendants deny the allegations in paragraph 11. 

B. Violations of Civil Rights Under 42 USC 1983 – Fourth Amendment – 
Failing to Adequately Train and/or Supervise (Against Defendant Portland)  

12. Defendants reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-11 above. 

13. Defendants admit that at all material times they were acting under color of law.  

To the extent that paragraph 13 sets forth legal theories, conclusions or arguments, no response is 

required.  Defendants deny any remaining allegations in paragraph 13. 

C. Oregon Common Law – Negligence (Against All Defendants) 

14. Defendants reallege and incorporate by reference paragraphs 1-13 above. 

15. To the extent that paragraph 15 sets forth legal theories, conclusions or 

arguments, no response is required.  Defendant deny any remaining allegations in paragraph 15. 

16. Defendants deny the allegations in paragraph 16. 

17. Defendants deny the allegations in paragraph 17. 

18. Defendants deny the allegations in paragraph 18. 

V. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

19-22. Section V of the Complaint contains plaintiff’s prayer and no response is 

required.  Defendants deny that plaintiff is entitled to any damages, costs, fees or declaratory 
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relief as alleged in paragraphs 19-22. 

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Failure to State a Claim) 

23. Plaintiff has failed to state a claim against the defendants. 

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Justification and Privilege) 

24. The actions of the defendants, including Officers Walsh and Clark were lawful, 

justified and privileged as those actions were necessary to carry out their duties as a law 

enforcement officer. 

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Qualified Immunity) 

25. Officer Walsh and Officer Clark are entitled to qualified immunity from liability 

because they acted in good faith and a reasonable police officer in their position would not have 

known that any of their actions or inactions would have violated a clearly established 

constitutional or federally protected right of plaintiff. 

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Self-Defense/Officer Safety) 

26. Defendants’ actions were reasonably undertaken for self-defense/officer safety. 

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Good Faith) 

27. The actions by defendants, including Officer Walsh and Officer Clark, were 

done in good faith based on reasonable grounds. 

///// 

///// 

///// 
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SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Reasonable Suspicion and Probable Cause) 

28. Any stop or detention of plaintiff was supported by reasonable suspicion.  

Defendants had probable cause to stop, detain and arrest plaintiff. 

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Oregon Tort Claims Act-ORS 30.260 et seq.) 

29. Plaintiff’s claims are subject to all the limitations, conditions, and immunities 

contained in Oregon’s Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 et seq. 

EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Punitive Damages) 

30. To the extent there is any claim against the City of Portland for punitive damages, 

plaintiff is barred from recovering punitive damages from the City of Portland for state and 

federal claims as a matter of law.  See ORS 30.269 and City of Newport v. Fact Concerts, Inc., 

453 U.S. 247 (1981). 

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Comparative Fault/Negligence) 

31. To the extent that plaintiff was injured and suffered any damages they were 

caused by plaintiff’s own negligence or fault.  Plaintiff’s own actions or inaction created a 

foreseeable risk of harm which a reasonable person would have avoided.  Plaintiff was negligent 

in one or more of the following particulars: 

a. In creating or creating the perception that he had overdosed on 30 or more pills 

and then failed to provide 911 operators with his address or location after he called for medical 

assistance;  

b. In failing to listen and respond to the officers’ explanations that they were here to 

help him because he had made a call for medical assistance and wanted to get him medical help; 
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c. In unilaterally dropping a gun, which looked like a fully functional firearm, out of 

his van and then taking a position within a few feet of it and reaching for it and forcing the need 

for the officers to draw and point their weapons at plaintiff; 

d. In failing to comply with the verbal commands given by the officers, who were 

plainly recognizable as police officers and had issued lawful commands to plaintiff which 

plaintiff disregarded and disobeyed; 

e. In exiting the van in close proximity to the gun and then confrontationally telling 

the officers that he had another gun in the van and that they needed to come to him instead of 

following their commands to move away from the gun on the ground near him and come towards 

the officers; 

f. In failing to comply with the officers’ commands not to reach for the gun and 

bending over and reaching for the gun while yelling something to the effect of “you are going to 

have to fucking kill me or fuck you, shoot me, shoot me” - thereby forcing the officers to defend 

themselves and use lethal force against plaintiff; and 

g. In reaching for the gun a second time after he had been shot at, at least once by the 

officers and again forcing the officers to defend themselves and use lethal force against plaintiff. 

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Discretionary Immunity) 

32. The acts or omissions that plaintiff alleges that give rise to defendant City of 

Portland’s liability are discretionary functions and/or duties for which defendant City is immune 

from liability. 

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(No Duplicative Damages) 

33. Plaintiff is not entitled to recover duplicative damages. 

///// 
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TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Objective Reasonableness) 

34. Both Officer Walsh’s and Officer Bradley’s use of lethal force against plaintiff 

was objectively reasonable under the totality of the circumstances because plaintiff’s conduct 

and actions created an immediate threat of death or serious bodily injury to Officers Walsh and 

Bradley and others nearby. 

THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

(Reservation of Rights to Assert Additional Defenses) 

35. The City reserves the right to assert additional affirmative defenses which 

discovery or other investigation may reveal to be appropriate. 

WHEREFORE, having fully answered plaintiff’s Amended Complaint, defendants ask for 

the following relief: 

A. That judgment be entered in favor of defendants and against plaintiff; 

B. That defendants be awarded their reasonable costs incurred herein; and 

C. That defendants be awarded such other relief as the Court deems just and 

equitable. 

Dated:  July 30, 2018 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
/s/ Robert Yamachika 
ROBERT YAMACHIKA, OSB # 065560 
Senior Deputy City Attorney 
J. SCOTT MOEDE, OSB # 934816 
Chief Deputy City Attorney 
RYAN BAILEY, OSB # 130788 
Deputy City Attorney 
Telephone: (503) 823-4047 
Of Attorneys for Defendants City of Portland, 
Roger Walsh and Bradley Clark 
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